NO. 69797-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SANDRA HIMMELMAN,

Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

---

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

---

DAVID L. DONNAN  
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT  
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701  
Seattle, WA 98101  
(206) 587-2711

RECEIVED  
SUPERIOR COURT  
SNOHOMISH COUNTY  
JAN 14 2013  
11:43 AM

**

## **A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.**

Ms. Himmelman was induced by a nefarious acquaintance to cash a check at her neighborhood grocery store and return the change to him. The check was a forgery and when Ms. Himmelman was charged she explained that she did not know the check was forged because it looked proper, and she had sought repeated assurances from the man from whom it was received. At her trial, however, the jury was not instructed with the language clarifying the subjective knowledge requirement. Furthermore, the jury was instructed in a manner that allowed it to return a guilty verdict if it simply believed in the truth of the charge, undercutting the constitutional reasonable doubt standard and the presumption of innocence. These instructional errors substantially undercut the reliability of the verdict, requiring reversal and remand for a new trial.

## **B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.**

1. The trial court erred in denying Ms. Himmelman's request to instruct the jury, pursuant to State v. Shipp,<sup>1</sup> that it could find

---

<sup>1</sup> State v. Shipp, 93 Wn.2d 510, 610 P.2d 1322 (1980).

“that [s]he was less attentive or intelligent than the ordinary person and did not act with knowledge of that fact.”

2. The trial court erred by instructing the jury in a manner which undercut the burden of proof and confused the jury’s roll in the judicial process.

### **C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.**

1. The accused is entitled to have the jury fully instructed on the relevant legal standards related to the unlawful conduct alleged. Ms. Himmelman sought an instruction advising the jury that it was a defense “that [s]he was less attentive or intelligent than the ordinary person and did not act with knowledge of that [operative] fact.” Did the trial court’s failure to fully instruct the jury violate Ms. Himmelman’s state and federal constitutional rights to due process of law and a fair trial by failing to adequately explain to the jury the law regarding knowledge?

2. The jury is charged with determining whether the State has proved the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt, not divining “the truth” of the allegation. The jury was instructed, however, to return a guilty verdict if it had an “abiding belief in the truth of the

charge.” Did this instruction confuse the jury’s constitutional function and undercut the prosecutor’s burden so as to require reversal?

**D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.**

Sandra Himmelman cashed a check at her neighborhood Fred Meyer store which she had received from an acquaintance. 7/6/12RP 34. The check was a forgery bearing the account number of Carolyn Rygg, but listing the payer as an unrelated business in Lake Stevens, “Westgate Business Services, LLC.” RP 96-99.

James Philio, a loss prevention manager with Fred Meyer, testified regarding their standard business practices in accepting and cashing checks for customers. RP 101-26. Mr. Philio testified that based on their records, the check total was \$457.89, it was used to purchase \$87 worth of merchandise, and the balance was paid in cash. RP 109-13.

Everett Police Detective Steven Sieverson was assigned the case and contacted Ms. Himmelman by telephone. RP 129-38. They also met subsequently at the Everett Police station. The detective

described Ms. Himmelman as slow in processing and responding as if on some sort of prescription medication. RP 153, 166-67.

When asked about the check, Ms. Himmelman acknowledged she cashed the check and explained it had been given to her by an acquaintance, Mark Barthy. RP 137-40. Ms. Himmelman encouraged the police to find Mark and suggested where he might be found since his ex-wife and daughter lived across the street. RP 164-65. When the detective was unable to locate Mr. Barthy in a police database, however, he took no further steps toward locating him despite his being the source of the check, explaining that “some of the people that I try to locate are very difficult to find because they are into illegal drugs.” RP 140, 165. Ms. Himmelman confirmed that Mark was “a dooper,” and went on to complain that “Mark is a low life with no job and owes me \$5,800, but refuses to pay.” RP 155.

When Ms. Himmelman was charged with forgery and identity theft in the second degree, she defended herself on the grounds that she did not know the check was a forgery. CP 84;<sup>2</sup> RP 183-200. She

---

<sup>2</sup> RCW 9A.60.020 defines forgery:

noted that the check looked proper on its face and contained no errors which might have raised her suspicions. RP 193-94. It was also illogical to believe she would have knowingly taken the forged check to her local supermarket where she would be known at the time she cashed the check and recognized whenever she returned. RP 183, 199. In light of Mark's reputation, she had questioned him

- 
- (1) A person is guilty of forgery if, with intent to injure or defraud:
    - (a) He or she falsely makes, completes, or alters a written instrument or;
    - (b) He or she possesses, utters, offers, disposes of, or puts off as true a written instrument which he or she knows to be forged.
  - (2) In a proceeding under this section that is related to an identity theft under RCW 9.35.020, the crime will be considered to have been committed in any locality where the person whose means of identification or financial information was appropriated resides, or in which any part of the offense took place, regardless of whether the defendant was ever actually in that locality.
  - (3) Forgery is a class C felony.

RCW 9.35.020 defines the offense of identity theft, in pertinent part, as:

- (1) No person may knowingly obtain, possess, use, or transfer a means of identification or financial information of another person, living or dead, with the intent to commit, or to aid or abet, any crime.
- (2) Violation of this section when the accused or an accomplice violates subsection (1) of this section and obtains credit, money, goods, services, or anything else of value in excess of one thousand five hundred dollars in value shall constitute identity theft in the first degree. Identity theft in the first degree is a class B felony punishable according to chapter 9A.20 RCW.
- (3) A person is guilty of identity theft in the second degree when he or she violates subsection (1) of this section under circumstances not amounting to identity theft in the first degree. Identity theft in the second degree is a class C felony punishable according to chapter 9A.20 RCW.
- ....
- (6) Every person who, in the commission of identity theft, shall commit any other crime may be punished therefor as well as for the identity theft, and may be prosecuted for each crime separately.

several times about the check in an effort to assure herself of its validity. RP 190. Unfortunately, she was “a poster child for gullibility.” RP 191.<sup>3</sup> At the same time, the detective described Ms. Himmelman as slow in processing and responding as if on some sort of prescription medication. RP 153, 166-67. Ms. Himmelman simply reiterated therefore that she did not know the check was a forgery and had no intent to injure either Ms. Rygg or Fred Meyer. RP 195-200.

Nevertheless, the jury returned verdicts of guilty based in part on the arguably erroneous instructions on reasonable doubt and knowledge. RP 218-20; CP 35-36.

Ms. Himmelman now seeks relief in this Court. CP 2-13.

---

<sup>3</sup> Illustrating this point, defense counsel noted that when Mr. Himmelman finally kicked Mark out of her house she still gave him gas money. RP 191.

## E. ARGUMENT.

### 1. **The failure to fully instruct the jury on the nature and scope of the essential element of knowledge violated Ms. Himmelman's right to jury trial and due process of law.**

- a. Appellant timely sought to have the jury fully instructed on the law regarding the knowledge element.

Ms. Himmelman requested the jury be instructed pursuant to WPIC 10.02 regarding the knowledge requirement with the additional explanation that the jury could find despite what a reasonable person might have known under the circumstances, “that he [the defendant] was less attentive or intelligent than the ordinary person and did not act with knowledge of that fact.” CP 72-73; RP 146; Shipp, 93 Wn.2d at 516. Defense counsel explained that the additional language was appropriate and particularly helpful in explaining to the jury the difference between subjective and objective examination of what a reasonable person would have known. RP 146. The court rejected her request, concluding the defense could argue their theory of the case from the language regarding permissive inferences. Id.

- b. The accused is entitled to have the jury fully and clearly instructed on the law applicable to her case.

In criminal cases, constitutional due process requires that the jury be instructed on each element of the offense charged. State v. Emmanuel, 42 Wn.2d 799, 820-21, 259 P.2d 845 (1953). Jury instructions are further intended to provide guidance to the jury in its deliberations and aid it in arriving at a proper verdict. State v. Allen, 89 Wn.2d 651, 654, 574 P.2d 1182 (1978). The instructions should explain the law of the case, point out the essentials to be proved on one side or the other, and bring into view the relation between the evidence presented to the particular issues involved. Bird v. United States, 180 U.S. 356, 362, 21 S.Ct. 403, 45 L.Ed. 570 (1901).

Each side in a criminal proceeding is, therefore, entitled to have the trial court instruct upon its theory of the case if there is evidence to support the theory. State v. Barnes, 153 Wn.2d 378, 382, 103 P.3d 1219 (2005). The jury instructions must allow the parties, prosecutor and accused, to argue their cases and properly inform the jury of the applicable law. State v. Tili, 139 Wn.2d 107, 126, 985 P.2d 365 (1999); State v. Brown, 130 Wn.App. 767, 770,

124 P.3d 663 (2005). Where there is substantial evidence in the record to sustain a theory on which an instruction is sought, it must be given. State v. Stevens, 158 Wn.2d 304, 310, 143 P.3d 817 (2006) (reversible error for failure to give voluntary intoxication instruction in child molestation prosecution); State v. Elder, 70 Wn.2d 414, 419, 423 P.2d 533 (1967).

There is no constitutional requirement that the jury be instructed on definitions of each element, unless that element is not a matter of common understanding. State v. Bledsoe, 33 Wn.App. 720, 727, 658 P.2d 674 (1983). While “knowledge” may be a term with a commonly understood meaning, the presumptions and inferences of knowledge which the law also recognizes are unique and require clear direction for the jury. See e.g. Shipp, 93 Wn.2d 515-17 (three potential interpretations of “knowledge” under the RCW 9A.08.010(1)(b)); 13 Ferguson, WA PRAC. Criminal Practice and Procedure, § 4403 (2004).

The trial court has, therefore, limited discretion in selecting or rejecting the instructions. The court is required to give instructions requested by either party which correctly

state the law and are supported by evidence at trial. Ferguson, at § 4405; State v. Adams, 31 Wn.App. 393, 396, 641 P.2d 1207 (1982).<sup>4</sup> Ms. Himmelman’s requested instruction was a correct statement of the law and was amply supported by the evidence adduced at trial. The trial court abused its discretion in failing to give the instruction.

c. The knowledge instruction given failed to fully and fairly convey the law applicable to the issues in the case without the additional provision requested.

Whenever a presumption arises from the circumstances in a criminal case, the jury instructions must fully explain the nature and operation of the inference to the jury. Sandstrom v. Montana, 442 U.S. 510, 512-19, 99 S.Ct. 2450, 61 L.Ed.2d 39 (1979) (due process prohibits the use of a conclusive or irrebuttable presumptions); Connecticut v. Johnson, 460 U.S. 73, 85-88, 103 S.Ct. 969, 74 L.Ed.2d 823 (1983). In this case, the court’s instruction allowing the jury to find the defendant had knowledge if a “reasonable person in the same situation [would] believe that a fact exists.” CP 57. In the

---

<sup>4</sup> A specific instruction should not be given when a general instruction adequately explains the law and allows the parties to argue their theories of the case. State v. Williams, 22 Wn.App. 197, 588 P.2d 1201 (1978).

absence of the language requested by Ms. Himmelman, the jury was not required to find she personally had actual knowledge, rather than a form of constructive knowledge based on what the fictitious reasonable person would know. This is problematic, however, because “[t]he jury must still find subjective knowledge” on the part of the accused. Shipp, 93 Wn.2d at 517.

The absence of the proposed language from Shipp materially limited Ms. Himmelman’s ability to argue her case because the knowledge instruction left the jury free to impute a form of constructive knowledge, or not, but failed to make clear that whether that result was reached by direct or circumstantial evidence, that actual knowledge of the forgery and use of Ms. Rygg’s account number was required. The instruction allowed the jury to find knowledge if a reasonable person would have known, without regard to Ms. Himmelman’s actual knowledge. Shipp, 93 Wn.2d at 517 (“The jury must still find subjective knowledge.”) The instruction given failed to make clear that even where a reasonable person might, it is free to find defendant did not have knowledge. CP 57.

That has the very real likelihood of conviction without a jury finding the essential element of actual knowledge.

- d. Appellant was prejudiced by the failure to fully instruct the jury regarding knowledge.

The use of an improper instruction in a criminal case is presumed to be prejudicial and that prejudice is not overcome unless the State establishes it did not affect the jury's consideration of the charge. State v. Hicks, 102 Wn.2d 182, 187, 683 P.2d 186 (1984); State v. Wanrow, 88 Wn.2d 221, 236-38, 559 P.2d 548 (1977) (limiting jury's consideration of relevant facts was an erroneous statement of the applicable law). In determining whether a party was prejudiced by improper jury instructions, the reviewing court must determine whether the instructions misled the jury as to its responsibilities under the law. State v. Hayes, 73 Wn.2d 568, 572, 439 P.2d 978 (1968). Failing to clearly define the actual subjective knowledge requirement served to mislead this jury as to its responsibilities under the law.

The failure to give an instruction which correctly states the law does not constitute error if the instructions given are sufficient when considered as whole. But where the jury is incorrectly

instructed on the law, other instructions cannot negate the error.

Wanrow, 88 Wn.2d at 236. The refusal to give the requested instruction resulted in the jury being misled and constitutes reversible error because it severely limited Ms. Himmelman's ability to present her theory of the case. State v. Dana, 73 Wn.2d 533, 537, 439 P.2d 536 (1968); State v. Kidd, 57 Wn.App. 95, 99, 786 P.2d 847 (1990). Reversal and remand for a new trial is required.

**2. The “abiding belief” instruction undercuts the State’s burden of proof by erroneously equating the jury’s job with a search for the “truth” rather than a test of the prosecution’s case.**

- a. Ms. Himmelman timely objected to the “abiding belief” language.

Ms. Himmelman specifically objected to the Court's use of the “abiding belief” instruction. RP 144. Instead, Ms. Himmelman proposed an alternative without the problematic language. CP 68-69. The trial judge noted the objection for the record and gave the offending instruction. RP 144; CP 44.

- b. The jury's role is to evaluate the State's case, not simply find "truth" as the instruction implies.

A jury's role is to test the substance of the prosecutor's allegations, not to simply search for the truth. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012); see also State v. Berube, 171 Wn.App. 103, 120, 286 P.3d 402 (2012) ("... truth is not the jury's job. And arguing that the jury should search for truth and not for reasonable doubt both misstates the jury's duty and sweeps aside the State's burden."). It is, in fact, the job of the jury "to determine whether the State has proved the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt." Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760.

By equating proof beyond a reasonable doubt with a "belief in the truth" of the charge, the jury instruction blurs the critical role of the jury. The "belief in the truth" language encourages the jury to undertake an impermissible search for the truth and invites the error identified in Emery. The presumption of innocence may, in turn, be diluted or even "washed away" by such confusing jury instructions. State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 315-16, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). It is

the court's obligation to vigilantly protect the presumption of innocence. Id.

In Bennett, the Supreme Court found the reasonable doubt instruction derived from State v. Castle, 86 Wn.App. 48, 53, 935 P.2d 656 (1997), was "problematic" as it was inaccurate and misleading. 161 Wn.2d at 317-18. Exercising its "inherent supervisory powers," the Supreme Court directed trial courts to use WPIC 4.01 in all future cases. Id. at 318.

The pattern instruction reads:

The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty. That plea puts in issue every element of the crime charged. The State is the plaintiff and has the burden of proving each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists.

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless during your deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. [If, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt].

11 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 4.01, at 85 (3<sup>rd</sup> ed. 2008) (“WPIC”).

The Bennett Court did not comment on the bracketed “belief in the truth” language, however, more recent cases show the problem with such language. In Emery, the prosecutor told the jury that “your verdict should speak the truth,” and “the truth of the matter is, the truth of these charges, are that” the defendants are guilty. 174 Wn.2d at 751. The Court noted that these remarks misstated the jury’s role, but because they were not part of the court’s instructions, and the evidence was overwhelming, the error was harmless. Id. at 764 n.14.

In Pirtle, the Court held that the “abiding belief” language did not “diminish” the pattern instruction defining reasonable doubt. State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 657-58, 904 P.2d 245 (1995), cert den., 518 U.S. 1026 (1996). The Court ruled that “[a]ddition of the last sentence [regarding having an abiding belief in the truth] was unnecessary but was not an error.” Id. at 658. The Pirtle Court did not address, however, whether this language encouraged the jury to view its role as a search for the truth aspect. Id. at 657-58. Instead, it

was looking at whether the phrase “abiding belief” was different from proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Id.

Pirtle concluded that this language was unnecessary but not necessarily erroneous. Emery now demonstrates the danger of injecting a search for the truth into the definition of the State’s burden of proof. This language fosters confusion about the jury’s role and serves as a platform for improper arguments about the jury’s role in looking for the truth. 174 Wn.2d at 760.

Ms. Himmelman objected to the addition of this last sentence in the court’s instruction defining the prosecution’s burden of proof and proposed an instruction without the improper language. RP 144; CP 68-69. This “belief in the truth” language inevitably minimizes the State’s burden and suggests to the jury they should decide the case based on what they think it’s true rather than whether the State proved its case. That is inconsistent with the constitutional standards outlined.

- c. Error in the burden of proof instruction creates structural error and requires reversal.

Improperly instructing the jury on the meaning of proof beyond a reasonable doubt is structural error. Sullivan v. Louisiana,

508 U.S. 275, 281–82, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993).

“[A] jury instruction misstating the reasonable doubt standard is subject to automatic reversal without any showing of prejudice.”

Emery, at 757 (quoting Sullivan, 508 U.S. at 281–82).