NO. 69797-8-I

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

SANDRA J. HIMMELMAN,

Appellant.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT** 

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

JOHN J. JUHL Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

# **

#### I. ISSUES

- 1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by declining to give a modified version of the standard WPIC knowledge instruction?
- Was the jury properly instructed regarding reasonable doubt?

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. FACTS OF THE CRIMES.

On June 27, 2010, Carolyn Rygg's car was broken into and her checkbook was stolen. Rygg notified her bank. On July 5, 2010, defendant, Sandra Himmelman, cashed a check for \$457.89 at the Mill Creek Fred Meyer, in Everett, Washington; the check was drawn on Rygg's account number. RP 94-95, 109, 111-114, 122, 135, 137, 152, 157.

On July 13, 2010, the bank contacted Rygg about a check that had been passed on her account number. The payor on the check was Westgate Business Services, LLC, it was signed "Terry Jones", and made payable to Sandra Himmelman. Rygg did not own a business called Westgate Business Services and did not know a Terry Jones or Sandra Himmelman. Rygg had never given Westgate Business Services, Terry Jones or Sandra Himmelman

permission to write checks on her account or use or possess her account number. RP 96-99, 132, 157.

On July 22, 2010, the case was assigned to Detective Sieverson and he contacted James Philio, the Loss Prevention Manager at Fred Meyer. On September 15, 2010, Detective Sieverson called the phone number he had obtained for defendant and the person who answered identified herself as Sandra Himmelman. Detective Sieverson told Himmelman that he wanted to talk to her about a \$457.89 check she cashed at Fred Meyer. Himmelman started crying and admitted that she was the person who cashed the check. Himmelman said that she got the check from a guy named Mark, that she did not know his last name, that he was a doper low life, who did not have a job and owed her \$5,800, but refuses to pay her. The call was terminated because Himmelman was crying while driving and talking on her cell phone. Himmelman called Detective Sieverson later and told him that Mark's last name was Barthy, but that she did not know his phone number. Detective Sieverson was unable to locate a Mark Barthy. RP 101, 132, 134, 136-140, 152, 154-155.

On October 6, 2010, Himmelman agreed to speak with Detective Sieverson in person at the police department. The interview was audio and video recorded. Detective Sieverson thought Himmelman's responses seemed a little slow, similar to someone who was taking prescription medication, but that her behavior was normal and she did not appear confused during the phone conversation or interview and answered questions appropriately. A redacted audio/video recording of Himmelman's interview was played for the jury. RP 141-142, 149, 153, 166-167.

#### B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

Himmelman was charged with one count Forgery and one count Identity Theft in the Second Degree. CP 84-85. The case proceeded to trial and a jury found Himmelman guilty on both counts. CP 35-36; RP 218-221.

Defendant was sentenced 45 days on the forgery and 3 months on the identity theft, both counts to run concurrent. CP 14-22; 01/02/2013 RP 14-17. Defendant timely appealed. CP 2-13.

#### III. ARGUMENT

The State must prove every essential element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt in order for the court to uphold a conviction. <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); <u>State v. Acosta</u>, 101 Wn.2d 612, 615, 683 P.2d 1069 (1984). An instruction that relieves the State of its burden to

prove every element of a crime requires automatic reversal. State v. Brown, 147 Wn.2d 330, 339, 58 P.3d 889 (2002), citing State v. Smith, 131 Wn.2d 258, 265, 930 P.2d 917 (1997) and State v. Byrd, 125 Wn.2d 707, 713–714, 887 P.2d 396 (1995). To be constitutional, jury instructions must instruct the jury about each element of the offense charged. State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 689, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). Jury instructions, taken in their entirety, must inform the jury that the State bears the burden of proving every essential element of a criminal offense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 656, 904 P.2d 245 (1995).

In the present case, defendant was charged with forgery and identity theft in the second degree; the trial court correctly instructed the jury on the elements of both offenses. CP 47 (Jury Instruction 7, WPIC 130.03), CP 49 (Jury Instruction 9, WPIC 131.06). Instruction 7 told the jury that a necessary element of the crime of forgery was that "defendant knew that the instrument had been falsely made, completed or altered." CP 47. Instruction 9 told the jury that a necessary element of the crime of identity theft in the second degree was that "defendant knowingly obtained, possessed, transferred or used a means of identification or financial information of another person." CP 49. The jury instructions clearly

required the jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant knew or acted knowingly. The reference to knowledge in Instructions 7 and 9 directed the jury to the instruction defining that term. CP 57 (Instruction 17, WPIC 10.02). Because the knowledge instruction explains, but does not supply, an element of the offense, it is proper to consider it along with all the other instructions.

Instructions 7 and 9 also told the jury that each element had to be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 47, 49. Nothing in these instructions, or any other instruction, informed the jury of any circumstance in which it could return a verdict of guilty on the charge of forgery or the charge of identity theft in the second degree without finding all of the elements were proved beyond a reasonable doubt. In this case, the jury was properly instructed regarding the elements and of the State's burden to prove each element beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 47, 49, 57.

# A. THE JURY WAS CORRECTLY INSTRUCTED REGARDING KNOWLEDGE.

Defendant argues that the trial court's jury instructions failed to fully instruct the jury on the element of knowledge. Appellant's Brief 7-13. "Jury instructions are sufficient when they allow counsel to argue their theory of the case, are not misleading, and when

read as a whole properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law." Keller v. City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 249, 44 P.3d 845 (2002), quoting Bodin v. City of Stanwood, 130 Wn.2d 726, 732, 927 P.2d 240 (1996); State v. Barnes, 153 Wn.2d 378, 382, 103 P.3d 1219 (2005); State v. Riley, 137 Wn.2d 904, 909, 976 P.2d 624 (1999). Whether jury instructions as a whole correctly state the applicable law is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709, 721, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006); Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d at 656; State v. Peters, 163 Wn. App. 836, 847, 261 P.3d 199 (2011).

"Before addressing whether an instruction fairly allowed the parties to argue the case, the court must first determine whether the instructions accurately stated the law without misleading the jury." State v. Linehan, 147 Wn.2d 638, 643, 56 P.3d 542 (2002). "However, not every omission or misstatement in a jury instruction relieves the State of its burden." Brown, 147 Wn.2d at 339. "A harmless error is an error which is trivial, or formal, or merely academic, and was not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party assigning it, and in no way affected the final outcome of the case." Smith, 131 Wn.2d at 264 (citations omitted). A constitutional error is harmless if the court is convinced beyond a

reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would reach the same result absent the error. <u>Linehan</u>, 147 Wn.2d at 643; <u>State v. Easter</u>, 130 Wn.2d 228, 242, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996).

Even if an instruction may be misleading, it will not be reversed unless prejudice is shown by the complaining party. Keller, 146 Wn.2d at 249. "If, on the other hand, a jury instruction correctly states the law, the trial court's decision to give the instruction will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d 350, 363-364, 229 P.3d 669 (2010).

Here, citing <u>State v. Shipp</u>, 93 Wn.2d 510, 610 P.2d 1322 (1980), defendant requested the trial court add the following language to instruction 17: [Defendant] "was less attentive or intelligent than the ordinary person and did not act with knowledge of that fact." CP 72-73; RP 146. The trial court denied defendant's request noting:

that considerable thought was given to the recommended language that is currently within the WPIC, that the inclusion of the phrase, "The jury is permitted but not required to find that he or she acted with knowledge of the fact" is the clause that is intended to reflect the <a href="Shipp">Shipp</a> decision, and from that ... the defense can certainly argue your theory of the case ....

RP 146. A trial court's refusal to give a jury instruction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Buzzell, 148 Wn. App. 592, 602, 200 P.3d 287 (2009). Deciding whether defining the word "knowledge" will assist jurors in their decision-making is within the sound discretion of the trial court. Scott, 110 Wn.2d at 691-692 (conferring discretion, but also recommending that "knowledge" be defined in some cases, including cases involving accomplice liability). Jury instructions must be relevant to the evidence presented. State v. Hughes, 106 Wn.2d 176, 191, 721 P.2d 902 (1986).

A knowledge instruction that tracked WPIC 10.02, like one given here, allows the jury to consider the subjective intelligence or mental condition of defendant. State v. Barrington, 52 Wn. App. 478, 485, 761 P.2d 632 (1988), review denied, 111 Wn.2d 1033 (1989). WPIC 10.02 has been construed in Barrington, 52 Wn. App. 485; State v. Kees, 48 Wn. App. 76, 82, 737 P.2d 1038 (1987); State v. Rivas, 49 Wn. App. 677, 689, 746 P.2d 312 (1987); and State v. Davis, 39 Wn. App. 916, 919, 696 P.2d 627 (1985). In all four cases the courts held that the instruction complied with the requirements established in Shipp because it allowed the jury to

consider the subjective intelligence or mental condition of the defendant.

Here, Instruction 17 correctly states the law. The instruction fairly allowed defendant to argue her theory of the case. Viewing the instructions in the present case as a whole and in the context of the testimony and arguments, the jury instructions correctly informed the jury of the applicable law, were not misleading, and allowed each party to argue its theory of the case. Further, defendant has not shown how she was prejudiced by Instruction 17. Therefore, defendant's argument that the trial court erred in giving the additional language in the knowledge instruction is without merit. Barrington, 52 Wn. App. at 485. There was no instructional error or due process violation.

# B. THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED REGARDING REASONABLE DOUBT.

## 1. The Trial Court Did Not Err In Giving WPIC 4.01.

Defendant argues that it was error for the trial court to include "an abiding belief in the truth of the charge" in the reasonable doubt instruction. Appellant's Brief at 13-18; see CP 44 (Instruction 4, WPIC 4.01). This phrase has been upheld in several appellate cases. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d at 658 (does not diminish the definition of reasonable doubt given in the first two sentences);

State v. Lane, 56 Wn. App. 286, 299-300, 786 P.2d 277 (1989) (rejecting the argument that WPIC 4.01 dilutes the State's burden of proof); State v. Mabry, 51 Wn. App. 24, 25, 751 P.2d 882 (1988); State v. Price, 33 Wn. App. 472, 476, 655 P.2d 1191 (1982), review denied, 99 Wn.2d 1010 (1983). The Supreme Court has also upheld the use of traditional abiding-belief instructions. Victor v. Nebraska, 511 U.S. 1, 14-15, 114 S.Ct. 1239, 127 L.Ed.2d 583 (1994). See also 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 4.01 (3d Ed) Comment. It was not error in the present case to include WPIC 4.01 in the court's instructions to the jury.

### IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, defendant's appeal should be denied and her conviction should be affirmed.